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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01460 
CASE NAME: MENASCO VS. KILARR 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ENFORCEMENT OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 
FILED BY JAMES KENNETH MENASCO, NIKII MENASCO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiffs’ motion to enforce the settlement agreement and enter judgment against defendants is 
denied.  
 
It appears defendants have complied with paying the monetary settlement agreed to by the 
parties. The only issue outstanding at the time the motion was filed was the recording of the quit 
claim deed removing the defendants’ names from the deed. The settlement agreement provides 
“the Parties shall execute and record with the Placer County Recorder a quit claim deed. . . .” 
(Emphasis added.) By its terms, the burden falls equally on all parties to record the deed.  
 
Nonetheless, it was defense counsel who attempted to record the deed. The County Recorder 
misplaced the deed and failed to alert counsel to minor issues with the deed. Counsel was 
unaware until the motion was filed that the deed had not been recorded and has since remedied 
the Recorder’s concerns. 
 
Since plaintiff’s counsel could have also recorded the deed, the court sees no reason to enter 
judgment against defendants and certainly not in an amount greater than agreed to. The parties 
should work together to resolve the new issues that have since surfaced regarding the allocation 
of the recording fees and documentary transfer tax.  
 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02256 
CASE NAME: NATIONAL SURETY VS. ANIA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR CONTESTING FIM SERVICES APP G/F 
SETTLEMENT FILED BY INTERNATIONAL FIRE EQUIPMENT CO. INCORPORAT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
International Fire’s motion contesting the good faith settlement between cross-defendant FIM 
Services dba Pear Street Bistro and cross-complainant Frymaster is denied as untimely 
pursuant to CCP 877.6(a)(2).   
 
Pear Street Bistro served its application for good faith settlement by certified mail on March 18, 
2019. International Fire was required to file its motion contesting the settlement within 25 days 
or no later than April 12, 2019. The court signed the order approving the settlement on April 15, 
2019. International Fire’s motion, filed on April 16, 2019, is untimely.  
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 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02477 
CASE NAME: LIZANO VS. SINGH 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ORDER RE LIGHTS, CAMERAS & SIGNAGE 
FILED BY CHARANJIT SINGH, CHANDAN DHINGRA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 
Parties to appear. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01011 
CASE NAME: WEATHERS VS CLAUSEN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR RECONSIDERATION OF ORDER RE: DEF MTN TO 
COMPL FILED BY LISA M WEATHERS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff moves to set aside the discovery sanctions awarded against her pursuant to either CCP 
1008 or CCP 473(b). The court denies the request under CCP 1008 because plaintiff has failed 
to proffer any facts or law that could not have been presented with an opposition to the 
discovery motions. The court grants the motion based on excusable neglect.  
 
It is undisputed that plaintiff was hospitalized and then in recovery during the time her opposition 
to the discovery motions was due. Plaintiff failed to oppose the motions. The court was 
compelled to award sanctions against her as the unsuccessful party who failed to demonstrate 
substantial justification. Plaintiff has since complied with the court’s order to supplement the 
discovery and only challenges the sanctions award. Had plaintiff promptly responded to the 
motions with compliant responses, the court would not have ordered the sanctions. Accordingly, 
the discovery sanctions are dismissed.  

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01341 
CASE NAME: BROOKS VS. SPEIGHTS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ORDER TO EXTEND TIME TO RESPOND TO 
PLAINTIFF'S, FILED BY WILMER F. SPEIGHTS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Mr. Speight’s motion to extend the time to respond to discovery is denied. The court has already 
issued terminating sanctions against Mr. Speights for his failure to respond to the discovery that 
was propounded March 21, 2018. 
 
Mr. Speights asserts that he had no idea his motion to reconsider the sanctions against him was 
denied, and he assumed his motion was continued to February 27, 2019 and then granted. The 
assertions conflict with the facts. 
 
Mr. Speights’ motion for reconsideration was denied on January 9, 2019. The hearing was to 
have been held at 9:00 a.m. that morning but no party called to contest the tentative ruling which 
was posted on January 8th. Mr. Speights claims that he called the department just before noon 
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on January 9th and was advised that the case would not be heard that day. The claim may be 
true since Mr. Speights should have called the previous day to request argument and, in any 
event, the hearing had been set for 9:00 a.m., not noon.  
 
Mr. Speights has apparently forgotten that he successfully used court call to appear 
telephonically at the February 5, 2019 case management conference. At that time, the court 
advised Mr. Speights that plaintiff’s motion for terminating sanctions was set for February 27, 
2019, reminded him about the rules for requesting argument and admonished him to respond to 
the discovery. Plaintiff’s proof of service on the motion for terminating sanctions establishes that 
the motion was mailed to Mr. Speights on January 16, 2019. 
 
Mr. Speights acknowledges receiving two of the orders from the court advising him that his 
answer and cross-complaint would be stricken if he failed to respond to the discovery by certain 
dates. He still has not responded to the discovery.  The case will now proceed without him. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01915 
CASE NAME: STANDFIELD VS JAMES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ENFORCE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND ATTY'S 
FEES FILED BY ANGEL STANFIELD, STEVE COCKERELL AND CINDY L. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 VACATED – Request for dismissal with prejudice was filed on May 21, 2019.  

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01991 
CASE NAME: LORENZO VS. FCA US LLC 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR TO FILE UNDER SEAL FILED BY MARIE JANE 
M. LORENZO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The court continues the hearing to June 26, 2019 at 9:00 a.m.  

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01991 
CASE NAME: LORENZO VS. FCA US LLC 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COSTS, EXPENSES & ATTY FEES FILED BY 
MARIE JANE M. LORENZO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Due the parties’ extraordinarily overlong briefs, the court continues the hearing to June 26, 2019 
at 9:00 a.m.  
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-02495 
CASE NAME: BERNIE VS BERNIE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL DISCOVERY RESP AND DOCUMENT 
PRODUCTION, FILED BY DAN BERNIE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant’s motion to compel and for sanctions is denied. 
 
After an extensive process, Discovery Referee Kevin Lally issued a recommendation on March 
28, 2109. Defendant filed the motion to compel on April 26, 2019 without discussing plaintiffs’ 
response to the recommendation. Plaintiffs have agreed to comply with the recommendation. 
The court finds defendant’s requests for additional information beyond that contained in the 
recommendation do not have merit. 
 
●     Given the limited number of pages produced and the breadth of the inspection demands, 
the court finds it would be unduly burdensome to require plaintiffs to separately categorize each 
of the documents produced. 
 
●     Defendant has already obtained bank records from the shared account. It would be unduly 
burdensome to require plaintiffs to produce the same exact records. Plaintiffs have agreed to 
produce any responsive records in their possession that are over 7 years old. 
 
●      Income tax returns are privileged and discoverable in only limited circumstances. 
Defendant has failed to overcome the privilege in this case.  
 
 ●     RFA number 28 is ambiguous and does not require a further response. 
 
Plaintiffs’ supplemental responses should be provided within 10 days of this hearing. 
 
 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01995 
CASE NAME: N. ELCENKO VS ELCENKO-HECIMOVI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR RELIEVED AS COUNSEL FILED BY DR. NOBLE 
O. ELCENKO, D.C., 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Motion to be relieved as counsel for defendant Dr. Noble O. Elcenko, D.C. is granted. Plaintiff’s 
worry that relieving counsel may result in time delays does not dissuade the court. No trial date 
has been set and that court is not inclined to force an attorney to continue working under these 
circumstances. The court will sign the order provided.  
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11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01995 
CASE NAME: N. ELCENKO VS ELCENKO-HECIMOVI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL FILED BY 
MARGUERITE ELCENKO-HECIMOVICH 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Motion to be relieved as counsel for defendant Marguerite Elcenko-Hecimovich is granted. 
Plaintiff’s worry that relieving counsel may result in time delays does not dissuade the court. No 
trial date has been set and that court is not inclined to force an attorney to continue working 
under these circumstances. The court will sign the order provided.   

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02107 
CASE NAME: NUANCE VS. KODIAK 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of NUANCE ENERGY 
GROUP, INC FILED BY FOSHAY ELECTRIC CO., INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This demurer to Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) is brought by defendant Foshay 
Electric Co., Inc. (“Foshay”). Foshay demurs to all three causes of action in the FAC for breach 
of contract, fraud, and conversion. 
 
 The demurrer is overruled on the first cause of action for breach of contract and third 
cause of action for conversion. The demurrer is sustained, with leave to amend, on the second 
cause of action for fraud. Plaintiff shall prepare an order for filing with the Court. 
 
 Plaintiff and Foshay’s requests for judicial notice are granted only as to the existence of 
the identified documents.  
 
First Cause of Action. Plaintiff added Foshay to this cause of action in the FAC under the alter 
ego theory. 
 

1. Violation of Court Order Argument  
 
Foshay demurs on the ground that Plaintiff violated the Court’s order by adding Foshay to the 
first cause of action, as the order gave leave to amend only the second and third causes of 
action. Plaintiff relies upon Code of Civil Procedure § 473 to support its amendment of its 
pleading to add Foshay as a defendant to the first cause of action. Foshay argues that under 
this section, a party must give advance notice prior to such an amendment.  
 
Foshay was given notice when the demurrer was sustained with leave to amend the second and 
third causes of action only. Harlan v. Department of Transportation (2005) 132 Cal. App. 4th 868 
(an adverse party has already received notice when the court sustains a demurrer with leave to 
amend pursuant to CCP §472a(a)). While technically in violation of the Court’s order, the 
ultimate questions are whether Plaintiff will be denied the opportunity to try this case on its 
merits, and whether Foshay will be prejudiced by the amendment. The Court finds that Plaintiff 
should be given the opportunity to flesh out its alter ego allegations against Foshay and that 
Foshay will not suffer prejudice at this point in the proceedings as the complaint is still at issue.  
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2. No Alter Ego Liability Due to Contract Argument 

 
While Foshay is technically correct insofar as the contract is only between Plaintiff and Kodiak, 
Foshay’s argument is ultimately unavailing because it fails to address whether the alter ego 
allegations imbue liability upon Foshay. 
 
“A claim against a defendant, based on the alter ego theory, is not itself a claim for substantive 
relief, e.g., breach of contract or to set aside a fraudulent conveyance, but rather, procedural, 
i.e., to disregard the corporate entity as a distinct defendant and to hold the alter ego individuals 
liable on the obligations of the corporation where the corporate form is being used by the 
individuals to escape personal liability, sanction a fraud, or promote injustice.” Hennessey's 
Tavern, Inc. v. American Air Filter Co. (1988) 204 Cal. App. 3d 1351, 1359.  
 
Moreover, “[a]lter ego liability is not limited to the parent-subsidiary corporate relationship; 
rather, ‘under the single-enterprise rule, liability can [also] be found between sister [or affiliated] 
companies.’ Factors for the trial court to consider include the commingling of funds and assets 
of the two entities, identical equitable ownership in the two entities, use of the same offices and 
employees, disregard of corporate formalities, identical directors and officers, and use of one as 
a mere shell or conduit for the affairs of the other.” Troyk v. Farmers Group, Inc. (2009) 171 Cal. 
App. 4th 1305, 1341-1342, citing Las Palmas Associates v. Las Palmas Center 
Associates (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1220, 1249. 
 
Detailed pleading is not required to sufficiently allege alter ego, contrary to what Foshay argues. 
A plaintiff need allege only ultimate, rather than evidentiary, facts to support an alter ego theory. 
Rutherford Holdings, LLC v. Plaza Del Rey (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 221, 236. These ultimate 
facts include domination and control, a unity of interest, use of the corporate alter ego as a mere 
shell and conduit, inadequate capitalization, failure to abide by the formalities of corporate 
existence, use by the shareholder of the corporate assets as his or her own, and the recognition 
that the separate existence of the corporation would promote injustice. Id. at 235. Plaintiff has 
done so here. 
 
Reading the FAC as a whole, Plaintiff seeks to hold Foshay liable as an alter ego of Kodiak via 
the single-enterprise rule. Even though the contract is between Plaintiff and Kodiak, Foshay may 
be found liable as an alter ego of Kodiak if the allegations are proven to be true. 
 

3. Sham Pleading Argument 
 
Foshay argues that the FAC is a sham pleading because Plaintiff specifically eliminated 
allegations that identified the contract as between Plaintiff and Kodiak without explanation. 
Plaintiff states that it has explained the reasoning as to why Defendants, including Foshay, 
should be liable for the acts of Kodiak in paragraphs 6 and 7 of the FAC. 
 
The Court finds that these paragraphs sufficiently explain the addition of Foshay as an alter ego 
defendant and that these allegations do not contradict the prior allegations of the original 
complaint.  
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4. False Alter Ego Allegations Argument 
 
Foshay argues that the alter ego allegations against it are false because Davis is not an officer 
or director of Foshay or any of the other entity Defendants. Foshay requests the Court to 
judicially notice its Statements of Information filed with the California Secretary of State to prove 
its point. Plaintiff’s position is that Davis is a “representative” of all Defendants, including 
Foshay. Plaintiff also requests judicial notice of Foshay’s Statements of Information, as well as 
Terra’s Statements of Information and a printout of Kodiak’s website page identifying Terra and 
Foshay as partners.  
 
Plaintiff also attaches a copy of Kodiak’s special interrogatory responses to a declaration which 
purport to identify Davis as the sole officer or director of Kodiak. Extrinsic evidence may not be 
considered on a demurrer. See, Ion Equipment Corp. v. Nelson (1980) 110 Cal. App. 3d 868, 
881 (“The purpose of a general demurrer is to determine the sufficiency of the complaint and the 
court should only rule on matters disclosed in that pleading.”). Accordingly, the Court did not 
consider these responses in making its ruling. 
 
“Judicial notice is the recognition and acceptance by the court, for use by the trier of fact or by 
the court, of the existence of a matter of law or fact that is relevant to an issue in the action 
without requiring formal proof of the matter.” Lockley v. Law Office of Cantrell, Green, Pekich, 
Cruz & McCort (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 875, 882. Judicial notice may be taken of documents 
pertinent to the issues raised by a demurrer. C.R. v. Tenet Healthcare Corp. (2009) 169 
Cal.App.4th 1094, 1103. However, the scope of judicial notice is generally limited. While courts 
are free to take judicial notice of the existence of documents, they may not take judicial notice of 
the truth of hearsay statements in those documents because those statements are reasonably 
subject to dispute and therefore require formal proof. Lockley, supra, 91 Cal.App.4th at 882. “[A] 
court may not take judicial notice of the truth of such documents unless there is no factual 
dispute concerning their truthfulness…” In re Fireye Derivative Litig., 2015 Cal. Super. LEXIS 
2656, *4.  
 
Here, there is clearly a dispute as to who the representatives, officers, and/or directors are for 
Foshay. Since there appears to be a factual dispute as to whether Davis is an officer and/or 
director of Foshay, the Court cannot judicially notice the content contained in these documents. 
Therefore, the Court grants the parties’ requests as to only as to the existence of the 
documents.  
 
Based on all of the foregoing, the demurrer to the first cause of action is overruled. 
 
Second Cause of Action. Foshay next argues that Plaintiff’s fraud cause of action fails to state 
a claim because it is not pled with the requisite specificity, and because Plaintiff’s fraud claims 
are based upon a breach of contract.  
 

1. Specificity Requirement 
 
Foshay argues that Plaintiff fails to meet the specificity requirement by failing to allege the 
identity of the Foshay representative who made the representations, their authority to speak, to 
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whom they spoke, what they said or wrote, and when it was said or written. Plaintiff responds by 
identifying each paragraph it claims demonstrates the required specificity. 
 
A review of the FAC and the original complaint shows a minimal amount of additional 
allegations. The FAC changed from “on behalf of Defendants” to “on behalf of all Defendants” in 
paragraph 34. The FAC changed from “Kodiak Moon’s third party distributor” to “neither Kodiak 
Moon nor any third party distributor” in paragraph 35. Finally, the FAC adds some factual 
allegations as to Davis’ intent during the negotiation and execution of the subject contract in 
paragraph 37.  
 
Other than the foregoing, the fraud allegations of the FAC appear identical to the original 
complaint. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s amendments still do not meet the particularity required for 
fraud. The allegations are devoid of the identity of the Foshay representative (or any other 
Defendants’ representative(s), for that matter) who made the representations, their authority to 
speak, to whom they spoke, what they said or wrote, and when it was said or written.  
 

2. Tort Remedies For Breach of Contract 
 
Foshay next argues that Plaintiff cannot turn a straightforward breach of contract claim into a 
tort claim unless it is in an insurance context. Plaintiff’s position appears to be that the breach of 
contract cause of action is incidental to the tort of fraud, and that punitive damages are 
recoverable upon proper showing of malice, fraud, or oppression. 
 
Regardless of Plaintiff’s somewhat unclear position, Foshay’s argument is incorrect. Outside the 
insurance context, a tortious breach of contract may be found when (1) the breach is 
accompanied by a traditional common law tort, such as fraud or conversion; (2) the means used 
to breach the contract are tortious, involving deceit or undue coercion or; (3) one party 
intentionally breaches the contract intending or knowing that such a breach will cause severe, 
unmitigable harm in the form of mental anguish, personal hardship, or substantial consequential 
damages. Erlich v. Menezes (1999) 21 Cal. 4th 543, 548.  
 
Here, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants, including Foshay, breached the contract by refusing to 
deliver the Modules and refusing to return the money after demand. (FAC, ¶ 29.) As such, the 
breach of the contract was accompanied by a traditional common law tort. However, the tort is 
conversion, not fraud. When coupled with the fact that the allegations are not pleaded with 
specificity, this further weakens Plaintiff’s fraud claim as alleged. 
 
Based on the foregoing, the demurrer to Plaintiff’s second cause of action for fraud is sustained, 
with leave to amend. 
 
Third Cause of Action. Foshay argues that the conversion claim fails to state a claim because 
Plaintiff consented to the taking of its property, and that a generalized claim for money cannot 
be the subject of conversion. Foshay also argues that Plaintiff cannot bring a conversion cause 
of action based upon a breach of contract. 
 
Plaintiff states that conversion is any act of dominion wrongfully asserted over another’s 
property and that conversion is complete when the party in possession has appropriated the 
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property to his own use. As such, Defendants converted the monies when they refused to return 
same. Plaintiff also states that a specific sum of money can be the subject of a conversion 
claim. Plaintiff does not address Foshay’s last argument regarding tort liability based upon 
breach of contract. 
 
Plaintiff’s argument is more persuasive. Defendants wrongfully exerted dominion over Plaintiff’s 
property when they refused to return the monies. Money can be the subject of conversion when 
it is a specific sum as alleged here. See, PCO, Inc. v. Christensen, Miller, Fink, Jacobs, Glaser, 
Weil & Shapiro, LLP (2007) 150 Cal. App. 4th 384, 396. Indeed, in California, actions permitting 
conversion of money typically involve the misappropriation, commingling, or misapplication of 
specific funds held for the benefit of others. Id. Plaintiff has alleged that Defendants failed to 
deliver the monies to Recom Solar, LLC and instead diverted it to their own combined and 
comingled use. (FAC, ¶ 23.) 
 
As for Foshay’s last argument regarding tort liability, as discussed above, Plaintiff alleges that 
Defendants, including Foshay, breached the contract by converting the monies. As such, the 
breach of the contract was accompanied by a traditional common law tort, and Plaintiff may 
seek a tort remedy in conjunction with breach of contract. 
 
Based on the foregoing, the demurrer to the third cause of action is overruled. 
 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02555 
CASE NAME: GANNON VS. ODELL 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE (ANTI-SLAPP) CAUSES OF ACTION 
2-6 FILED BY DANIEL JOHN GANNON, PAMELA GANNON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court is in receipt of Defendant Odell’s late-filed Opposition. The hearing on this matter is 
continued to June 26, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. Plaintiffs’ Reply is to be filed no later than June 12, 
2019. 
 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00007 
CASE NAME: HAMMONDS VS. SIMANIAN 
HEARING ON OSC RE: STATUS OF BANKRUPTCY FILED BY DR. MAURICE D 
SIMANIAN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Discharged. 
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15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00156 
CASE NAME: HAHN VS. RETAIL PACIFIC INC 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of HAHN FILED BY RETAIL PACIFIC 
INC., 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued by stipulation to June 12, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00331 
CASE NAME: KENTON KEADING VS HILJA KEADIN 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of KEADING FILED BY HILJA 
KEADING 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  Defendant Hilja Keading’s demurrer to the complaint is sustained without leave to 
amend.  The basis for this ruling is as follows. 
 
           Background. This case concerns a single claim of elder abuse.  Plaintiff Kenton Keading 
alleges in propria persona that his sister, Defendant Hilja Keading, used undue influence over 
their father to obtain an amendment to the family trust that changed her share of assets from 
about 5% to about 50%. The Keading family trust has been the subject of prior litigation, most 
significantly Contra Costa Superior Court case MSP16-00402, which addressed a petition to 
appoint a trustee, confirm trust ownership, and find intentional interference with expected 
inheritance, fraud, conversion, and elder abuse on Kenton’s part.  A judgment in excess of $2 
million was entered against Plaintiff in that case. Plaintiff was also declared a vexatious litigant 
on May 21, 2019 due to his many fruitless efforts to re-litigate or avoid that judgment. 

          Timeliness of Demurrer.  Plaintiff is correct that the demurrer was filed one court day 
late. A court has discretion to consider an untimely-filed demurrer in the furtherance of justice, 
where doing so does not prejudice any party’s substantial rights.  (Jackson v. Doe (2011) 192 
Cal.App.4th 742, 749.)  The court exercises its discretion to consider the demurrer at this time.  

          Collateral Estoppel is unavailing.  Collateral estoppel precludes a party from re-

disputing issues decided against him, even when those issues bear on different claims raised in 

a later case.  (Vandenberg, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 828.)  The preceding related probate case 

between the same parties concerned the same transactional nucleus of facts as this case. (See 

MSP16-00402). After trial, Judge Weil found Kenton Keading liable for elder abuse for 

wrongfully obtaining a power of attorney and improperly transferring certain trust assets to 

himself, including the family home, Freedom Motors stock and a Chrysler car. While the court 

noted that the trustor, Lewis Keading, was lucid, unpressured, and fully informed when he 

executed the October 8, 2015 amendment to the trust, the validity of the trust amendment was 

not before the court. Since Plaintiff’s allegations here concern the legitimacy of that amendment 

and that issue has not yet been litigated, collateral estoppel does not apply. 
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         Code of Civil Procedure section 426.30(a) bars this action.  In this case, Plaintiff 

directly challenges the validity of the October 8, 2015 amendment. The Complaint maintains that 

Plaintiff was damaged by wrongful diminution of his inheritance (see paragraphs 2, 39 and 

prayer, paragraph 3) and that Defendant “unduly influenced Lewis to make the last amendment 

which only benefited Hilja;” (Complaint, paragraph 20.) The Complaint seeks compensatory 

damages for this claimed wrong, i.e., to undo the effect of the amendment.   

Per Code of Civil Procedure section 426.30(a), a party served with a complaint who fails 

to file related claims in a cross-complaint cannot thereafter assert the related claims in another 

action.  Claims are “related” in this sense if they are based in the same transactional nucleus of 

facts.  (Hulsey v. Koehler (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 1150, 1157.)  The preceding probate case, 

MSP16-00402, concerned the same transactional nucleus of facts as the instant complaint: 

Lewis Keading’s actions in and reasons for amending the Keading Family Trust, granting 

powers of attorney, disposing of trust property, and trust-related interactions with Plaintiff and 

Defendant in 2015.  (RJN, Exhibit 1.)  Plaintiff’s allegations here about Defendant’s dealings 

with her father in 2015 and the resulting effects on trust amendment are thus related to MSP16-

00402 and were not pled there. They cannot be pled now. Defendant’s demurrer is sustained 

without leave to amend on that basis. 

          This Court lacks jurisdiction.  As Plaintiff’s Complaint states damages from wrongful 

diminution of inheritance and asks for compensation that nullifies the effect of the October 8, 

2015 amendment, it plainly concerns the validity of trust provisions.  This means that the claim 

asserted falls under the exclusive jurisdiction of the Probate Court per Probate Code 17000 and 

17200(b)(3). This Court lacks jurisdiction and Defendant’s demurrer is sustained without leave 

to amend on that basis as well. 

         The statute of limitations precludes the action.  Probate Code 6061.8 provides that a 

trust contest must be filed within 120 days of receipt of notification by the trustee under Probate 

Code 16061.7.  Plaintiff received such notification on March 15, 2016.  The notification met all 

statutory requirements, including warning of the 120-day limit on contests printed in a separate 

paragraph in 10-point boldface type, and was thus effective.  (Defendant’s RJN, Exhibit 2, 

Exhibit H.)  The statutory period expired on July 13, 2016.  Plaintiff’s complaint was not filed 

within the statutory period and Defendant’s demurrer is sustained without leave to amend on 

that basis. 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00431 
CASE NAME: WILLIAMS VS ST. JOHNS APARTMEN 
HEARING ON OSC RE: PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION FILED BY PLTF 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The matter is continued to July 10, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. 
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18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00607 
CASE NAME: SHINER VS SELECT PORTFOLIO SER 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of SHINER FILED BY SELECT 
PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC.,, U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This is an unlawful foreclosure case. Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) filed by 
Defendant Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (“Defendant” or “SPS”) and U.S. Bank, National 
Association, as trustee for the Structured Asset Investment Loan Trust Mortgage Pass-Through 
Certificates Series 2005-9 (“Defendant” or “US Bank”) (collectively, “Defendants”). Plaintiff 
Benson Eugene Shiner (“Plaintiff” or “Shiner”) opposes the Demurrer. The Complaint pleads 
causes of action for (1) violation of Civ. Code § 2924.17; (2) negligent misrepresentation; (3) 
violation of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Civ. Code § 1788; and (4) violation 
of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200.  

For the following reasons, the Demurrer is sustained, with leave to amend. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendants’ unopposed request for judicial notice of documents, on both Demurrer and on 
Reply, is granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. 

Analysis 

Violation of Civ. Code § 2924.17 

Civil Code 2924.17 requires that prior to recording “a notice of default, notice of sale, 
assignment of a deed of trust, or substitution of trustee” that “a mortgage servicer shall ensure 
that it has reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the borrower’s default and 
the right to foreclose, including the borrower’s loan status and loan information.” HBOR provides 
relief only for a “material” violation of this statute. Civ. Code § 2924.12(a)(1). 

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants recorded a Notice of Default “which was inaccurate and based 
on an unsubstantiated default.” Complaint at ¶ 62. Plaintiff further alleges that Defendants 
“failed to ensure that [they had] reviewed competent and reliable evidence to substantiate the 
default on Plaintiff’s loan, including the borrower’s loan status and information.” Id. at ¶ 63. 

Defendants argue that any violation of § 2924.17 was not “material” because the Plaintiff does 
not dispute that he was in default, nor does Plaintiff allege that he applied for a loan 
modification. 

Plaintiff has not alleged a material violation of this statute: there are no allegations in the 
complaint that the alleged technical violation of § 2924.17 affected Plaintiff’s loan obligations. 
Furthermore, Plaintiff does not identify a specific harm that he attributes to the violation.  

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a claim for violation of Civil Code § 2924.17. 
The Demurrer to the first cause of action is sustained. 

Negligent misrepresentation 

The elements of negligent misrepresentation are (1) a misrepresentation, which includes a 
concealment or nondisclosure; (2) knowledge of the falsity of the misrepresentation, i.e., 
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scienter; (3) justifiable reliance; and (4) resulting damages. See Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. 
(2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513, 519. “Each element in a cause of action for … negligent 
misrepresentation must be factually and specifically alleged.” Id.  

Plaintiff alleges that “Defendant made numerous representations to Plaintiff regarding the 
amount allegedly owed to reinstate the Loan as well as the charges that allegedly justified the 
amount and the intended means of collecting on the alleged debt, and Defendant did this in both 
the Letter and Notice of Default as described above.” Complaint at ¶ 69. 

Plaintiff’s allegation lacks particularity and the body of the Complaint gives little additional detail 
regarding any specific representations made to him or allegations that he actually relied on such 
representations to his detriment. See Cadlo, supra, 125 Cal.App.4th at 519 (actual reliance 
required). 

Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a claim for negligent misrepresentation. 

Violation of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Civ. Code § 1788 

In Opposition, Defendants argue that Plaintiff does not allege that they are a “debt collector” for 
purposes of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. This is incorrect: Plaintiff 
specifically alleges that Defendants are a “debt collector” as the term is defined under Civil Code 
§ 1788.2(c). Complaint at ¶ 79. Furthermore, a mortgage servicer’s “attempting to obtain 
repayment of a mortgage debt” meets the Rosenthal Act’s definition of a “debt collector.” 
Davidson v. Seterus, Inc. (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 283, 304. Defendants are debt collectors for 
purposes of the Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. 

The Court notes that the Davidson decision is not inconsistent with the United States Supreme 
Court’s decision in Obduskey. There, the court summarized its interpretation of “debt collector” 
as follows: 
 

[T]he Act’s present language has all the earmarks of a compromise: 
The prohibitions contained in §1692f(6) will cover security-interest enforcers, 
while the other “debt collector” provisions of the Act will not. 
 
These considerations convince us that, but for §1692f(6), those who engage in 
only nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings are not debt collectors within the 
meaning of the Act. 
 

Obduskey v. McCarthy & Holthus LLP (2019) ___U.S.___ [139 S.Ct. 1029, 1038, 203 L.Ed.2d 
390, 399]. The necessary corollary of this interpretation is that “those who engage in only 
nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings” are debt collectors for purposes of 15 U.S.C. § 1692f(6), 
even though that statute addresses conduct that is part of the ordinary foreclosure process. 

Defendants’ primary argument on reply, then, is that Plaintiff has failed to allege an egregious 
violation of the RFDCPA. Davidson, however, does not provide a floor for violations of the 
RFDCPA; instead, it concluded that “the Rosenthal Act’s definition of ‘debt collector’ applies to a 
mortgage servicer who engages in debt collection practices in attempting to obtain repayment of 
mortgage debt, and that the trial court improperly sustained defendants’ demurrer on the ground 
that the Rosenthal Act does not apply to mortgage servicers.” Davidson, supra, at 304. 
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Plaintiff has alleged that “Defendants mislead Plaintiff as to the amount owed and as to services 
rendered and Defendants’ intent to collect” in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. Plaintiff further 
alleges violations of § 1692e(2)(A) & (B), § 1692e(5), § 1692f(1), § 1692f(6), § 1692.10(e), and 
§ 1788.13(j). Despite the litany of citations to the abusive debt collection practice statutes, there 
is very little detail in the Complaint regarding which specific statements violate which statute and 
how those alleged misrepresentations were material. 

In the absence of specific allegations of abusive, deceptive, or unfair practices in the collection 
of his debt, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a violation of the RFDCPA. 

Violation of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 

California’s unfair competition law (“UCL”), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 
unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 
practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 
in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 
§ 17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 
deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 
the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 
gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 
(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 
Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

Here, the alleged unfair conduct complained of is the alleged misrepresentations regarding the 
amount owed and the “refusal to deal in good faith with Plaintiff regarding the status of the 
scheduled trustee sale and the status of [his] loan modification and recordation of the Notice of 
Trustee Sale while Plaintiff was in loan modification review[.]” Complaint at ¶ 107. The latter 
allegation is particularly unclear given that Plaintiff does not allege that he submitted a loan 
modification application, nor does it appear that a notice of Trustee Sale was recorded. Instead, 
he alleges earlier in the Complaint that “[i]n or around January of 2019, Plaintiff was ready, 
willing, and able to pay Defendants his ar[r]ears in order to reinstate the Loan” but that “the 
amount that Defendants demanded was inaccurate or at best confusing and left Plaintiff unsure 
about how much he needed to pay Defendants.” Complaint at ¶ 46. 

Furthermore, the Complaint is bereft of allegations which would demonstrate economic injury 
and causation. Plaintiff’s boilerplate recitations at paragraph 109 are insufficient. In the absence 
of allegations that he incurred a “personal, individualized loss of money or property in any 
nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 325), such as late fees and penalties, that 
were caused by Defendants’ alleged unfair and fraudulent conduct, Plaintiff has not alleged 
facts sufficient to state a claim for violation of Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. 
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19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN18-1358 
CASE NAME: VALENCIA VS. BOARD OF REGISTER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR WRIT OF ADMINISTRATIVE MANDATE FILED BY 
JANET ANNE BAENA VALENCIA RN 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court continues this hearing to June 12, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. 

 


